THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION

R. Michael Campbell, II, Commissioner
T. Scott Beck, Commissioner
Gene McCaskill, Commissioner

W.C.C. FILE NO.: 1713216

Appellate Case No. 2019-000795


RECEIVED
OCT 14 2019
SC Court of Appeals

ANGELA ELMER.....APPELLANT,

v.

CITY OF NORTH CHARLESTON, EMPLOYER, and PAI.....RESPONDENTS.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT


Richard C. Alexander, Esq
Shelly Leeke Law Firm, LLC
3614 Ashley Phosphate Rd.
North Charleston, South Carolina, 29418
Telephone: (843) 297-8485
Facsimile: (843) 297-8497
chip@leekelaw.com

Attorney for Appellant

Other Counsel of Record:

Johnnie W. Baxley, III

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This matter was before the Full Commission's Appellate Panel (hereinafter "Commission" pursuant to Appellant's Form 30, requesting review of Single Commissioner Wilkerson's (hereinafter "Single Commissioner") October 29, 2018 Decision and Order. This matter was before the Single Commissioner on August 23, 2018 in Sumter, South Carolina pursuant to Appellant's Form 50 and Respondents' Form 51.

Appellant sustained an admitted injury arising out of a motor vehicle accident on September 7, 2017. Appellant was a Master Patrol Officer with the City of North Charleston Police Department and was rear-ended in her vehicle during the course and scope of her employment. Following the accident, Appellant received immediate care at Coastal Carolina Occupational Health (hereinafter "CCOH") for neck and low back pain. Respondents provided medical treatment for approximately six (6) or seven (7) weeks with Dr. Barry Weissglass of CCOH to treat the symptoms caused by the work-related motor vehicle accident. Dr. Weissglass released Appellant to full duty on October 23, 2017 at her request.

After her requested release, Appellant experienced several flare-ups of her low back pain approximately monthly. One of the flare-ups occurred in December 2018 and others occurred in January, February, March, and April 2018. Appellant testified to receiving treatment from Health First in January, and she underwent an independent medical examination with Dr. Leonard Forrest of Southeastern Spine Institute on February 20, 2018. Dr. Forrest opined that Appellant's flare-ups were related to the September 7, 2017 work-related accident. Dr. Forrest provided continued treatment until Appellant requested release so she could return to work on May 16, 2018. Between the February 2018 examination by Dr. Forrest and his follow up treatment, Respondents required Appellant to return to CCOH after her March 2018 flare-up. Dr. Weissglass deemed Appellant's

condition work-related and work restrictions were reinstated.

Respondents, with no contradicting evidence or opinion, ignored the authorized treating physician's (Dr. Weissglass) opinion that this was work-related, and his request for an MRI. Respondents denied Appellant any future treatment and, after a short period of light duty, forced her out of work demanding that she seek treatment on her own to be released to full duty and return to work. Appellant sought this treatment with Dr. Forrest who would not release her until May 16, 2018, after injections and tempering of her symptoms. Appellant contends she is owed temporary total disability for the period during which Respondents forced her out of work and would not provide light duty accommodations for her work-related restrictions from the authorized treating physician, as well as reimbursement for out-of-pocket costs for treatment she was compelled to seek independently.

At the Single Commissioner's hearing and on appeal, Appellant took the position that she met her burden of proof establishing that she is entitled to continued treatment for her low back. Appellant took the position that she met her burden of proof under §42-1-160 and §42-15-60, relying on her testimony, a preponderance of the medical evidence, and the independent medical examination and deposition testimony of Dr. Forrest. Appellant further took the position that she met her burden of proof under §42-9-35 that she sustained a permanent aggravation of her preexisting condition based on the opinion of Dr. Forrest following his independent medical examination and later confirmed by Dr. Forrest in his deposition testimony, both of which were provided to a reasonable degree of medical certainty.

At the Single Commissioner's hearing and on appeal, Respondents took the position that they provided proper benefits under the Act to Appellant following her work injury on September 7, 2017, until she was released from care on October 23, 2017. They maintain that the flare-ups after

October 23, 2017 were not causally-related to her accident, but instead, causally-related to her underlying condition for which she experienced flare-ups prior to the work-related accident. Respondents contend Appellant is not entitled to temporary compensation because any time Appellant missed from work in April or early May 2018 was the result of a flare-up from her pre-existing condition, unrelated to her work accident. Finally, Respondents deny Appellant is entitled to any additional medical treatment and that any impairment to Appellant's back was present before the September 7, 2017 accident. They assert that there is no additional impairment from the accident and no additional disability.

The Single Commissioner found Appellant sustained a temporary aggravation of her low back injury that resolved by October 23, 2017, and Appellant's flare-ups after that date were related to her preexisting condition and not the work-related injury. The Single Commissioner found Appellant was not entitled to temporary compensation when Respondents forced her out of work in April 2018 and was not entitled to any permanent disability from her work-related injury. Over Appellant's objections, the Single Commissioner allowed the untimely, late submission of the deposition of Dr. Weisglass after the hearing and submission of a newspaper article picture of Appellant during the hearing. The Single Commissioner also ruled in Respondents' favor concerning a Motion to Quash. The Full Commission upheld all Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law from the Single Commissioner's Decision and Order.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The Administrative Procedures Act (APA) establishes the standard for judicial review of decisions of the Workers' Compensation Commission. Code 1976, § 1-23-380.

South Carolina Code Ann. § 1-23-380 establishes the "substantial evidence" rule as the standard of review for decisions of the Workers' Compensation Commission. *Lark v. Bi-Lo, Inc.*,

276 S.C. 130, 276 S.E.2d 304 (1981). Pursuant to that rule, a reviewing court may reverse or modify a decision of an administrative agency if the findings, inferences, conclusions, or decisions of that agency are clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence on the whole record. Code 1976, § 1-23-380(5)(e). Substantial evidence is defined as:

“Such relevant evidence as a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion. It must be enough to justify, if the trial went to a jury, refusal to direct a verdict when the conclusion sought to be drawn from it is one of fact for the jury. This is something less than the weight of the evidence and the possibility of drawing two inconsistent conclusions from the evidence does not prevent an administrative agency's finding from being supported by substantial evidence.” Workers' Compensation Commission. *Lark v. Bi-Lo, Inc.*, 276 S.C. 130, 276 S.E.2d 304 (1981) at 135-136, 276 S.E.2d at 307.

Appellate courts are not at liberty to substitute their view of the evidence for that rendered by the Commission. Rather, “[t]he Circuit Court's role is appellate only, and is limited to deciding whether the Commission's decision is not supported by substantial evidence or is controlled by some error of law.” *Rogers v. Kunja Knitting Mills Co.*, 312 S.C. 377, 440 S.E.2d 401 (Ct. App. 1994). When reviewing an appeal from the Workers' Compensation Commission, the appellate court may not weigh the evidence or substitute its judgment for that of the Full Commission as to the weight of the evidence and questions of fact. *Therrell v. Jerry's, Inc.*, 370 S.C. 22, 26, 633 S.E.2d 893, 894-895 (2006).

Moreover, “the possibility of drawing two inconsistent conclusions from the evidence does not prevent an administrative agency's finding from being supported by substantial evidence.” *Palmetto Alliance, Inc. v. S.C. Pub. Serv. Comm'n*, 282 S.C. 430, 432, 319 S.E.2d 695, 696 (1984). In workers' compensation cases, the Appellate Panel is the ultimate finder of fact. *Shealy v. Aiken*

County, 341 S.C. 448, 455, 535 S.E.2d 438, 442 (2000). When the evidence is conflicting over a factual issue, the findings of the Appellate Panel are conclusive. *Hargrove v. Titan Textile Co.*, 360 S.C. 276, 290, 599 S.E.2d 604, 611 (Ct. App. 2004). The final determination of witness credibility and the weight to be accorded evidence is reserved for the Appellate Panel. *Bass v. Kenco Group*, 366 S.C. 450, 458, 622 S.E.2d 577, 581 (Ct. App. 2005).

The Court of Appeals may reverse the Workers' Compensation Commission's decision where "substantial rights of the Appellant have been prejudiced because the administrative findings, inferences, conclusions or decisions are," inter alia, not supported by substantial evidence or "arbitrary or capricious or characterized by abuse of discretion or clearly unwarranted exercise of discretion." S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-380(5)(f). An abuse of the Commission's discretion constitutes grounds for this Court to reverse and remand a case for a hearing de novo. See *Adams v. H.R. Allen, Inc.*, 397 S.C. 652, 659, 726 S.E.2d 9, 13 (Ct. App. 2012) (vacating, remanding, and ordering a de novo hearing).

ARGUMENTS

I. The Commission abused their discretion and erred as a matter of law in allowing the post-hearing submission of Dr. Weissglass' deposition in violation of S.C. Regs. 67-612, 67-613, and 67-215.

S.C. Reg 67-612 requires the non-moving party to provide reports at least ten days prior to the hearing. Failure to provide as required under this section may result in exclusion of such reports from the evidence of the case. Appellant understands the Single Commissioner's discretion to accept such evidence, including depositions. However, subsection (J) MANDATES that "[a]ll available evidence and testimony shall be presented at the scheduled hearing or a party must move for an adjournment according to R. 67-613." Respondents' did not move for a postponement or

adjournment as required under 67-612(J). Because they did not move for a postponement as required, they subsequently violated S.C. Regs. 67-613 and 67-215 by not properly filing and serving a motion in a timely manner.

Appellant's Counsel objected to the post-hearing submission of Dr. Weissglass' deposition but was overruled by the Commissioner "based on the complexity of the case" (Hrg. Tr. P. 4, l. 22 – P. 7, l. 8). As previously mentioned, this hearing was initially set for June 2018, but during the pre-hearing conference, Respondents' moved for postponement specifically for the purposes of deposing Dr. Forrest. Despite also not properly filing this motion in accordance with S.C. Regs. 67-613 and 67-215 prior to that hearing date, the motion was granted and hearing postponed. The Single Commissioner signed an Interim Order on June 18, 2018 wherein it was specifically ordered "[t]he hearing shall be postponed until Defendants receive a response to their Form 27 Subpoena and parties take the deposition of Dr. Forrest."

The Single Commissioner's Interim Order contained other findings referring to the resetting of the hearing, which are not pertinent to this appeal. What is pertinent is what was not ordered; it was not ordered that the hearing was postponed for general additional discovery. The hearing was postponed for one reason: Dr. Forrest's deposition. The simple fact is Respondents did not have the evidence to support their case after Dr. Forrest's deposition was completed. Respondents had approximately eleven months from the date of injury until Dr. Forrest's deposition during which they could have procured an opinion from their authorized treating physician, but they failed to exercise that option. As a result, with less than two weeks until the hearing, there was limited time for Respondents to timely procure a competing opinion to refute the medical opinion from Dr. Forrest. However, it is worth noting that there was ample time to comply with S.C. Regs. 67-613 and 67-215, but that was not done.

Despite the foregoing, the Single Commissioner (and subsequently) the Commission overruled Appellant's objections and allowed for the post-hearing submission of Dr. Weissglass' deposition. This ruling clearly prejudiced Appellant because Appellant was not able to direct the Single Commissioner to key portions of the deposition during the hearing, nor was Appellant's Counsel afforded time to properly follow up on new information learned in the deposition (this is discussed in more detail below concerning the Motions to Quash).

II. The Commission erred in finding as fact and concluding as law that Claimant did not meet her burden of proof under §§ 42-1-160, 42-15-60, and 42-9-35 that she sustained an aggravation of her preexisting low back condition as such finding is against the greater weight and preponderance of the substantial evidence in the record and based upon erroneous legal conclusions.

In determining whether a work-related injury is compensable, courts liberally construe the Workers' Compensation Law toward providing coverage and resolve any reasonable doubt in favor of the injured employee. *Whigham v. Jackson Dawson Communications* (S.C. 2014) 410 S.C. 131, 763 S.E.2d 420, rehearing denied; *Douglas v. Spartan Mills, Startex Division* (S.C. 1965) 245 S.C. 265, 140 S.E.2d 173. Proof that workers' compensation claimant sustained an injury may be established by circumstantial evidence and direct evidence where circumstances lead an unprejudiced mind to reasonably infer the injury was caused by the accident. *Tiller v. National Health Care Center of Sumter* (S.C. 1999) 334 S.C. 333, 513 S.E.2d 843. Proof that a claimant sustained an injury and that it arose out of and in the course of his employment may be established by circumstantial as well as by direct evidence, where the circumstances surrounding the occurrence of the injury are such as to lead an unprejudiced mind reasonably to infer that it was caused by accident; the evidence need not negate all other causes of resultant injury in

compensation proceedings. *Holly v. Spartan Grain & Mill Co.*, (1947) 210 S.C. 183, 42 S.E.2d 59.

Appellant alleged an injury to her neck and an aggravation of a preexisting condition in her low back when she was rear-ended in a motor vehicle collision. In the simplest of explanations of this case, Appellant had a low back surgery in 2012 at the L4-5 level. In the five years following her lower back surgery, Appellant sought additional treatment on one occasion in 2015. She sought no additional care for her lower back until after the admitted work-related motor vehicle collision on September 7, 2017. After the motor vehicle collision, she experienced frequent flare-ups of her low back pain on an almost monthly basis following her release from Dr. Weissglass' care on October 23, 2017. These recurrent episodes required additional, new, and more frequent treatment.

Medical Evidence/Testimony

In finding Appellant did not sustain an aggravation of her preexisting low back condition, the Commission erroneously concluded that the medical evidence and Dr. Forrest's testimony did not support compensability. In fact, there was no medical evidence in this case to contradict compensability. This was an admitted accident and injury, and Respondents provided treatment on the date of injury until Appellant was provisionally released to full duty on October 23, 2017 (Appellant's APA 1, PP. 1-23). It is important to note this release to full duty was at Appellant's request in an effort to return to work because of the stress of her light duty position. Unfortunately, Appellant experienced flare-ups of her back pain in December, January, and February that kept her out of work. She finally sought treatment in February on her own at Health First (Hr. Tr. P. 44, ll. 5-10; P. 52, ll. 18-19, et al.).

Around the time of her visit to Health First, Appellant underwent an independent medical

examination on February 20, 2018 with Dr. Leonard Forrest, a board-certified spine specialist, to assess her condition and consider additional treatment options (Appellant's APA 2, PP. 30-32). Dr. Forrest's examination noted that her symptoms had increased above her baseline. Regarding causation, Dr. Forrest opined, "in December her symptoms worsened in the back and legs, and then worsened further about two weeks ago, without any new incident or injury. To a reasonable degree of medical certainty, Ms. Elmer's current back and lower extremity symptoms were secondary to the aggravation of her underlying lumbar condition caused by the motor vehicle accident of 9/7..." (Id. at P. 32).

For approximately two weeks after this examination, Appellant suffered continued lower back symptoms, and Respondents required her to return to CCOH for additional treatment. On March 8, 2018, Dr. Weissglass noted that Appellant was having recurrent episodes of flare-ups of her low back pain since he last saw her in October 2017 (Appellant APA 1, P. 24). Dr. Weissglass noted on two separate occasions in the medical records from this visit that her current condition was work-related (Id. at PP. 28-29). Dr. Weissglass placed Appellant under work restrictions and ordered an MRI (Id.). However, Respondents, with no medical evidence to the contrary, declined to provide the suggested treatment, demanded Appellant seek treatment on her own, and required a full duty work release prior to allowing her to return to work. To improve her symptoms and return to work for Respondents, Appellant complied and sought additional care with Dr. Forrest, which included injections and continued work restrictions that kept her out of work until May 16, 2018 (Appellant APA 2, PP. 33-48).

On August 6, 2018, Dr. Forrest was deposed by Counsel for Respondents. In his deposition, Dr. Forrest testified Appellant returned to a baseline of symptomology in October 2017 following her work-related motor vehicle collision, which allowed her to attempt to return to work

for Respondents. Dr. Forrest further testified Appellant only remained at her baseline condition for 4-6 weeks before experiencing recurring low back symptoms in December 2017 (Dr. Forrest Dep. Tr. P. 10, ll. 9-23). Dr. Forrest stated her increased and recurring low back and leg symptoms in December 2017 were directly related to the September 7, 2017 work accident stating that “she aggravated her underlying condition” (Id. at P. 11, ll. 9-21; P. 12, ll. 17-20; 13, ll. 8-9).

In response to a request for what his opinion is based on, Dr. Forrest noted she had two further recurrences of her symptoms. He opined, “her condition was aggravated by the incident in September 2017 and made more symptomatic, and [she has] had more frequent flare-ups as a result of that. And I do think she’s going to require treatment intermittently as a result of that and it’s not going to be every three years like it was before” (Id. at P. 12, l. 13 - P. 14, l. 14).

Dr. Forrest was further questioned and held firm to his opinion that the September 7, 2017 injury was an aggravation of her preexisting condition, and that is where things changed in terms of the frequency of Appellant’s flare-ups. Dr. Forrest specifically related the February flare-up to the September 2017 injury/aggravation (Id. at P. 21, ll. 1-10). He also specifically related Appellant’s April flare-up to the September 2017 injury/aggravation, and again, stated that his opinion was the September work-related injury was the cause of the more frequent flare-ups (Id. at P. 22, ll. 1-21). Dr. Forrest later stated that she was not back to her pre-September 2017 injury baseline because she is having more frequent flare-ups, including radicular/radiating pain. Dr. Forrest testified that based on his examination and experience, and utilizing the AMA Guides 5th Edition, Appellant would be on the low side of Category 2 with an approximate 6% whole-person rating, which equals an 8% regional rating (Id. at P. 27, l. 15 – P. 28, l. 5).

Respondents noticed the deposition of Dr. Weissglass, and he sat for his deposition the morning of the hearing. Dr. Weissglass stated that Appellant was released on October 23, 2017.

because she was back to her baseline with no permanent impairment (Dr. Weissglass Dep. Tr. P. 7, ll. 15-24). He testified that he saw her back on March 8, 2018, and Appellant reported multiple flare-ups in the interim (Id. at P. 8, l. 23 – P. 9, l. 7). Dr. Weissglass testified that “[a]n individual who’s had previous back surgery, the spine in those individuals is a little bit more vulnerable to activities and events that would not necessarily cause a problem or someone who has not had pre-existing problems” (Id. at P. 14, l. 22 – P. 15, l. 1). Dr. Weissglass confirmed a minor car accident would constitute an occurrence that someone with a preexisting condition would be more vulnerable to (Id. at P. 18, ll. 20 – P. 19, l. 9).

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