THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE SOUTH CAROLINA
WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION

W.C.C. FILE NO.: 1713216
Appellate Case No. 2019-000795

RECEIVED
DEC 23 2019
SC Court of Appeals

Angela Elmer, Claimant,

Appellant,

v.

City Of North Charleston, Employer, and
Companion TPA, Carrier.

Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

Johnnie W. Baxley, III
Willson Jones Carter & Baxley, P.A.
421 Wando Park Boulevard, Ste. 100
Mt. Pleasant, SC 29464
(843) 284-1082
jwbaxley@wjlaw.net
Attorney for Respondents

Other Counsel of Record:

Richard C. Alexander
Shelly Leeke Law Firm, LLC
3614 Ashley Phosphate Road
North Charleston, SC 29418
(843) 297-8485

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

any worsening, and his opinions about flare-ups were based upon Appellant's subjective complaints of pain. (R. p. 111, line (21) 19 – p.112, (21) line 24).

The Commissioner correctly found that Appellant's ability to return to work full duty and full function, the medical records, and Dr. Weissglass' testimony supported a finding that March 8, 2018 flare-up was not causally related to the work injury. (R. p. 21). The medical evidence supports this because when Appellant reported a flare-up in March 2018 and sought medical treatment, she had been back to her pre-injury baseline for over four months, had had a complete resolution of her symptoms for over four months, and had returned to full duty activities as a police officer and outside of work. She additionally had told every doctor that she saw that she could not explain how the flare-up occurred. All of these factors support that the flare-up in March 2018 is not causally related to her work accident of September 7, 2017, which had completely resolved over four months prior to this subsequent flare-up, and are instead another of her long-standing unexplained flare-ups that had occurred for years.

Appellant further argues that Findings of Fact #13 and #14 are mischaracterizations. However, these Findings were pulled directly from hearing testimony. Appellant specifically testified that she did not seek medical treatment between October 23, 2017, and February 20, 2018, and that she had returned to full duty work with no restrictions. (R. p. 178, line 21 – p. 179, line 10). Regarding Finding of Fact #25, the Single Commissioner states that based on Appellant's testimony and the properly submitted exhibit (see argument below), the Appellant's testimony was "somewhat inconsistent." (R. p. 23). As fact finder, it is the Commissioner's job to weigh the evidence and to make conclusions and findings.

Based upon the testimony of the Appellant, the fact that she returned to baseline in October 2017, her ability to return to work full duty and full function for over four months, the submitted medical records, and the deposition testimony of Dr. Weissglass, the substantial evidence in the record supports a finding that Appellant's flare-up in March 2018 is not causally related to her work accident of September 7, 2017. It is very clear that Appellant has been experiencing intermittent pain, intermittent symptoms, aggravations, and flareups of her low back pain with radiculopathy since her back surgery in 2012 and that some of those symptoms and flareups are due to activities of daily life or happen spontaneously.

c. The Commission correctly weighed the evidence in the record.

In looking at the testimony of Dr. Forrest and Dr. Weissglass, there are conflicting medical opinions in the record regarding causation. Dr. Weissglass clearly indicated that Appellant's flare-ups in 2018 were not causally related to her work accident in September 2017, but were instead related to her long-standing chronic back problems. (R. p. 108, lines (14) 1-13). Despite a lack of objective evidence, Dr. Forrest testified that Appellant's February and subsequent flare-ups were related to her work accident. (R. p. 111, lines (21) 7-10).

Appellant attacks the Single Commissioner's Findings of Fact #16, #18, and #31 due to their reliance on Dr. Weissglass' testimony over Dr. Forrest. However, it is the duty of the Commission to give weight to the testimony as it sees fit. The Single Commissioner personally reviewed the medical records and the deposition testimony of both Dr. Forrest and Dr. Weissglass, and he also considered the other testimony and evidence in the record. (Finding of Fact #18; R. p. 21). Based on his review, the Single Commissioner gave greater

weight to the testimony of the treating doctor, Dr. Weissglass, as opposed to the one-time IME doctor. Id. As of March 2018, Dr. Weissglass had seen the Appellant for several visits from September 2017 through March 2018, had seen the resolution of her symptoms, and had seen her in follow-up. Id. At that point, Dr. Forrest had only seen her for a one-time IME. Id. South Carolina law dictates that the existence of any competing or conflicting medical opinions is a matter left to discretion of the Commission. *See Randolph v. Fiske-Carter Constr. Co.*, 240 S.C. 182, 125 S.E.2d 267 (1962). Furthermore, the weight to be accorded medical opinion testimony is a matter for the Commission. Id. The Commission clearly indicated that it considered the testimony of both doctors but weighed the testimony of Dr. Weissglass more heavily, and it is solely within the discretion of the Commission to make this determination. (Full Commission Findings of Fact #15, #17, and #30; R. p. 20-21; p. 24). In conjunction with the testimony of the Appellant, her history of pre-work accident flare-ups, her ability to return to work full duty, and the medical evidence in the record, weighing all evidence as a whole, there is substantial evidence in the record to support that Appellant's temporary aggravation of her condition had resolved and any flare-ups after October 23, 2017, were unrelated.

The Commission fulfilled its obligation to consider and weigh all of the presented evidence to reach a determination as to whether the Appellant's legal burden had been met. The clear language of the Order indicates that all evidence was considered and which evidence was given more or less weight and the reasons therefore.

III. THE COMMISSION CORRECTLY ALLOWED THE SUBMISSION OF NEWSPAPER AND PHOTOGRAPHIC IMPEACHMENT EVIDENCE.

The news article from live5news.com, dated August 7, 2018, was properly admitted by the Hearing Commissioner and the Commission. (R. p. 201, lines 23-25). At the hearing,

Appellant specifically testified on direct examination about her ongoing back problems. Appellant stated that simple tasks like doing laundry had become more difficult. (R. p. 171, lines 17-21). She explained how her front loader washing machine requires her to “bend down and go at an angle” to get the laundry out of the washer and put it into the dryer. (R. p. 171, lines 20-24). She stated that it is easier and more comfortable to sit on the floor to pull the laundry out of the washer. (R. p. 171, line 24 – p. 172, line 1). Additionally, Appellant testified that she cannot mow her lawn any longer (R. p. 194, line 1), because using a push mower to mow her lawn rendered her unable to move for three (3) days. (R. p. 172, lines 2-3). She said her biggest ordeal is picking up her young child from her crib. (R. p. 172, lines 3-5). Appellant said she cannot pick her child up out of her crib unless her daughter stands up because Appellant is unable to bend over and physically pick her up if she’s laying down in the crib. (R. p. 172, lines 3-9). She further testified that she cannot do activities like weed eating, edging, or picking up things, and that she can only utilize shovels, rakes, or similar tools if she has to. (R. p. 195, lines 10-16).

In response to that testimony, on cross-examination, Respondents showed Appellant a newspaper article from live5news.com, dated August 7, 2018, which had a picture of Appellant in her Town of Summerville uniform cleaning out ditches and drains with a rake during recent flooding, and the article details her efforts to clean debris from storm drains with a rake to help with the recent flooding. (R. pp. 431-32). Appellant was asked several questions about the picture and her activities, which she answered. (R. pp. 195-96). Appellant did not object at the hearing to any of the questions posed concerning the article or picture. Id. Appellant only objected to the admission of the physical document. (R. p. 197-201).

Appellant first argues that it was improper to submit the article/picture under S.C. Rule of Evidence 608(b). As a procedural matter, the rules of evidence are not applied in South Carolina Workers' Compensation cases. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-330 (“Except in proceedings before the Industrial Commission¹ the rules of evidence as applied in civil cases in the court of common pleas shall be followed”). Additionally, “[g]reat liberality is exercised in permitting the introduction of evidence in proceedings under Workmen's Compensation Acts.” Ham v. Mullins Lumber Co., 193 S.C. 66, 89, 7 S.E.2d 712, 722 (1940). Further, Rule 608 specifically is not applicable. That section deals with instances of conduct/bad acts used to attack or support a witness' general character for truthfulness or untruthfulness. This section does not deal with cross-examination of a witness as to specific physical tasks which she claims she cannot do or can do only with great difficulty. The newspaper article in this case was specific cross-examination of a witness as to her previous testimony, not an attack on her general truthfulness or untruthfulness.

The Appellant has also mistakenly argued that the extrinsic evidence rule prohibits the introduction of this article. It does not. Under the extrinsic evidence rule, a cross-examiner may question a witness about a collateral matter, but a cross-examiner is bound by the witness's answer to matters solely affecting credibility. The cross examiner cannot call another witness to refute answers that the witness gave during cross-examination. In this case, the extrinsic evidence rule means that only the Appellant can be questioned about the article, and it would have been improper for Defendants to call another witness and ask about the article.

¹ In May of 1986, the name of the Industrial Commission was changed to the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Commission. South Carolina Workers' Compensation Law Annotated, *Overview to Workers' Compensation in South Carolina: History* (Thomas Reuters 2019).

Appellant next argues that the article/picture should not have been admitted due to unfair prejudice under S.C. Rule of Evidence 403. It is important to note that just because a piece of evidence is harmful to one's case does not mean it is unfairly prejudicial. Furthermore, the decision whether to admit evidence under this rule is again left to the sound discretion of the trial judge, and the decision will only be set aside in extraordinary circumstances where the discretion has been plainly abused. United States v. Simpson, 910 F.2d 154, 157 (4th Cir. 1990). At the hearing, the Single Commissioner weighed the probative versus prejudicial value of the newspaper article and ruled it to be admissible. (R. p. 201, lines 23-24). There are no extraordinary circumstances here that would require the decision of the Single Commissioner to be set aside.

Appellant further alleges that the photographic evidence was not submitted timely in accordance with S.C. Regs. 67-611 and 67-612. This is not a correct reading of the regulations. Neither regulation prohibits the introduction of impeachment evidence at a hearing. S.C. Regs. 67-611 and 67-612 simply set the rules for submitting a pre-hearing brief or expert reports. Impeachment evidence such as the photograph and article introduced by Respondents is not covered by these regulations. Respondents had no way of knowing exactly what the Appellant would say while testifying. As such, the evidence could not have been submitted prior to the hearing because Respondents could not know if they would use the evidence or not. It should be noted that this evidence was not created by Respondents but was actually a published article and photograph written by a local news station on their webpage. It is disingenuous for Appellant to claim surprise at the article since she posed for the picture and was clearly aware of its existence prior to the hearing. This type of evidence was properly admitted to impeach inconsistent prior testimony by

Appellant. As a single commissioner is given broad discretion in deciding what evidence may be admitted into the record, the newspaper article and attached photograph were properly admitted at the hearing.

Finally, Respondents assert that even if the article and picture should not have been admitted into evidence, this is harmless error. “In applying the harmless error rule, the court must be able to declare the error had little, if any, likelihood of having changed the result of the trial and the court must be able to declare such belief beyond a reasonable doubt.” State v. Watts, 321 S.C. 158, 165, 467 S.E.2d 272, 277 (Ct. App. 1996). Even if the actual documents had not come into evidence, Appellant had already confirmed that it was her in the picture, described her activities, and testified concerning what she was able to do as depicted in the article/picture. No objections were made by Appellant to any of those questions, and that testimony was properly considered. The testimony is what was relied upon by both the Single Commissioner and the Commission in their orders, not the physical documents; as such, even if the physical documents had not been admitted, the alleged error would have had no effect on the trial result.

IV. THE SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE IN THE RECORD SUPPORTS THE FINDING THAT APPELLANT IS NOT ENTITLED TO TEMPORARY COMPENSATION UNDER § 42-9-10.

First, the flareup sustained by Appellant in April 2018 is not related to her minor work accident as fully set forth above. However, even if it was, Appellant would not have been entitled to temporary compensation for the brief period of time that she missed from work.

Appellant sought treatment on her own for a condition that was not work-related with Dr. Forrest in April 2018, received two injections, and was released from care on May 16,

2018. (R. p. 186, line 20 – p. 187, line 3). During that period of time, Appellant testified that she continued working until April 3, 2018, took annual leave from April 4, 2018, through April 23, 2018, used sick leave on April 24, 2018, through April 25, 2018, and took leave without pay from April 26, 2018 through her last day of employment which was May 17, 2018. (R. p. 187, line 12 – p. 188, line 8). Appellant resigned from the City of North Charleston Police Department on May 17, 2018. (R. p. 188, lines 9-11). Appellant was forced to take leave due to the fact that she was under light duty work restrictions, but light duty work was not available through the City because they had deemed this flareup as not being work-related.

Despite being on light duty with the City of North Charleston, Appellant went to work shortly thereafter, on May 21st or 22nd of 2018, as a police officer for the Summerville Police Department in a full duty capacity. (R. p. 171, lines 9-12; p. 172, lines 13-15). At the time of the hearing, she was working for the Summerville Police Department full duty without restrictions. (R. p. 172, lines 16-25; p. 173, lines 1-6). Appellant admitted that she was released to return to work full duty on May 16, 2018, which coincidentally happened to be the exact time period where she was quitting her job with the City of North Charleston and going to work for the Town of Summerville. (R. p. 191, line 21 – p. 192, line 7).

Appellant admitted under oath that had Dr. Weissglass kept her on full duty work, she would have continued working her normal job as a police officer during the period of time for which she is now claiming temporary disability compensation. (R. p. 190, line 19 – p. 191, line 1).

In reviewing the above stated evidence, the Commission properly found that the substantial evidence in the record did not support a finding that Appellant was entitled to

temporary total disability compensation. (Finding of Fact #22; R. p. 22). In so determining, the Commission relied on the lack of causation between Appellant's work accident and her March 2018 flare-up; Appellant's testimony that she could have been working during that time; and the fact that Appellant turned around and immediately went to work full duty for the City of Summerville. As such, the substantial evidence in the record indicates Appellant is not entitled to temporary total disability compensation under § 42-9-10.

V. THE COMMISSION CORRECTLY GRANTED BOTH MOTIONS TO QUASH.

There were two Motions to Quash filed in this matter, one by Respondents and one by CCOH. (R. pp. 81-83; R. pp. 87-88). Accidentally, as part of a scrivener's error, the Single Commissioner denied Respondents' Motion to Quash when he intended to grant it. (R. p. 442). This error was realized when CCOH filed a second Motion to Quash, and this Motion was granted. (R. p. 3). Both motions resulted in the same outcome: Appellant's subpoena was quashed.

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